FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/10/2019 10:18 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 97312-1

SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 35864-0-III

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOSEPH M. THOMPSON, an individual, Respondent,

vs.

PROGRESSIVE DIRECT INSURANCE COMPANY, Appellant.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Peter J. Hess, WSBA #39721 Attorney for Respondent Hess Law Office, PLLC 415 N. 2nd Ave. Walla Walla, WA 99362 Phone: (509) 525-4744

Fax: (509) 525-4977

Email: peter@hesslawoffice.com

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Joseph M. Thompson ("Mr. Thompson"), Plaintiff below and Respondent on appeal, petitions the Supreme Court for review of the published decision of the Court of Appeals, Division III, designated in part II, pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4).

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Thompson v. Progressive Direct Ins. Co., ___ Wn.App ___, 438 P.3d 533 (No. 35864-0-III), filed April 9, 2019 ("Decision"), (Fearing, J., concurring) ("Concurrence"). A copy is in Appendix A. Order denying Motion to Reconsider filed May 9, 2019. A copy is in Appendix B.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Should this Court accept review, on the basis of substantial public interest, the Court of Appeals holding that allows insurance companies to exclude guest passengers from UIM coverage when such exclusion violates Washington's public policy of full compensation to collision victims and discriminates against our most vulnerable citizens?
- Should this Court accept review, on the basis of substantial public interest, the Court of Appeals holding that The UIM Statute requires UIM coverage to come from a separate vehicle than liability

- coverage ("the 2-car rule") when such holding misinterprets the language of The UIM Statute?
- 3. Should this Court accept review, on the basis of substantial public interest, the issue of whether The Definition Statute abrogated the 2-car rule when this is a case of first impression involving statutory interpretation?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about May 9, 2015, Joseph M. Thompson was injured in a single-vehicle automobile collision. CP 11, ¶ 2. Mr. Thompson was a Guest Passenger (a permissive-non-family-member passenger) in a vehicle driven by Stacey M. Haney. *Id.*, ¶ 4. Both Ms. Haney and her vehicle were insured under a policy of automobile insurance issued by Progressive Direct Insurance Company ("Progressive"). CP 95, ¶ 4. Progressive has agreed, for purposes of these proceedings, that Ms. Haney was solely responsible for this collision. CP 82, ¶ 1.

The Progressive insurance policy issued to Ms. Haney included both liability and underinsured motorist (UIM) coverage. CP 11, ¶ 1. Following the collision, Progressive paid Mr. Thompson the limits of the liability policy. CP 95, ¶ 5. Mr. Thompson then made a claim under the UIM coverage of Ms. Haney's policy. *Id.*, ¶ 5.

Progressive denied Mr. Thompson's UIM claim, stating that it agreed he was an "insured person" as defined by both The Definition Statute (RCW 48.22.005(5)(b)(i)) and Ms. Haney's policy; however, he was excluded from UIM coverage as Ms. Haney's vehicle did not meet the policy definition of "Underinsured Motor Vehicle", which contained an exclusion for guest passengers. CP 20, ¶ 6. Mr. Thompson responded that Progressive was required to provide UIM coverage as he was an "insured person" and was occupying an "underinsured motor vehicle" as those terms are clearly defined by statute and Progressive was prohibited by law from restricting coverage beyond the minimum coverage required by statute. CP 20-21, ¶ 7.

As Progressive continued to refuse Mr. Thompson's UIM claim, he filed a declaratory action seeking a determination that he was entitled to UIM coverage and benefits under Washington law. CP 3-6. The trial court granted Mr. Thompson's subsequent motion for summary judgment, agreeing that Progressive was required to provide Mr. Thompson UIM coverage, and could not erode required coverage with exclusionary policy clauses. CP 134, RP 2-3. The trial court also granted Mr. Thompson attorney fees and expenses pursuant to *Olympic S.S. Co., Inc. v. Centennial Ins. Co.*, 117 Wn.2d 37, 811 P.2d 673 (1991). CP 134. Progressive appealed both decisions. CP 205-211.

On appeal, Progressive asserted that the language of its policy excluded UIM coverage to guest passengers in single vehicle collisions; it also asserted that *Blackburn v. Safeco Ins. Co.*, 115 Wn.2d 82, 794 P.2d 1259 (1990) held that neither public policy nor RCW 48.22.030 ("The UIM Statute") requires UIM carriers to provide coverage to guest passengers in single car collisions, and that The Definition Statute did not abrogate *Blackburn*. Amended Brief of Appellant at 9-25. Mr. Thompson, in response, argued that The Definition Statute (which was enacted 3 years after the *Blackburn* decision and defined guest passengers as "Insured") requires UIM carriers to insure guest passengers. Brief of Respondent Joseph M. Thompson at 4-12. He also argued that the exclusion of guest passengers is in conflict with the public policy behind UIM insurance – full compensation for victims of automobile collisions. *Id.* at 10-12.

The Court of Appeals majority reversed the superior court's summary judgment order and remanded for entry of judgment in favor of Progressive. Decision at 12. It ruled that Mr. Thompson's public policy argument was foreclosed by the binding precedent of *Millers Casualty Ins.*Co. v. Briggs, 100 Wn.2d 1, 665 P.2d 891 (1983) and Blackburn, which held that the single-vehicle-guest-passenger exclusion was permissible. Id. at 7-8. The majority implicitly agreed with Mr. Thompson that The Definition Statute's definition of "Insured" applies to The UIM Statute

when it stated, "[a]ll RCW 48.22.005(5) did was to codify the essential definition of "insured" utilized by the Supreme Court in *Blackburn*." *Id.* at 9. However, with that same statement, the majority indicated its disagreement with Mr. Thompson's assertion that The Definition Statute abrogates *Millers* and *Blackburn*. However, perhaps most importantly, the concurrence stated its belief that the *Blackburn* case was wrongly decided because it contravenes Washington's public policy of full compensation to automobile collision victims. *Id.* at 1. Thus, indicating its agreement with Mr. Thompson that it is time for this Court to reexamine the *Millers* and *Blackburn* decisions.

Mr. Thompson filed a motion for reconsideration with the Court of Appeals arguing, first, that its decision was erroneous because The Definition Statute did not adopt the different "classes" of insured ("named insured" and "other insureds") discussed in *Blackburn*, but rather, it simply defines all covered persons as "Insured". Motion to Reconsider at 3-5. Second, he argued that, because the term "covered persons" in The UIM Statute was redefined by the enactment of The Definition Statute (3 years post-Blackburn), the meaning of The UIM Statute changed, requiring UIM coverage to all "Insured" people. *Id.* at 5-6. The Court of Appeals denied Mr. Thompson's motion for reconsideration. Order Denying Motion to Reconsider at 1.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

- 1. The Single-Vehicle-Guest-Passenger UIM Exclusion Substantially Affects the Public Interest Because it Violates Washington's Strong Public Policy of Full Compensation to Collision Victims and Discriminates Against our Most Vulnerable Citizens.
 - a. The *Millers* and the *Blackburn* decisions contravene the strong public policy behind The UIM Statute.

In the 1983 Millers decision, this Court ruled that a UIM carrier's exclusion of coverage to guest passengers in a single-vehicle collision, where the carrier's liability policy applies (what this brief refers to as "the single-vehicle-guest-passenger exclusion"), does not violate the public policy behind The UIM Statute. Millers, 100 Wn.2d at 8-9. Seven years later, this Court affirmed the holding of Millers in the Blackburn case. However, Justice Dore authored a dissent in Blackburn, joined by Justice Smith, stating, "[s]ince this court decided *Millers*, however, our cases under RCW 48.22.030 [The UIM Statute] have consistently given primary consideration to the fact that the Legislature intended to provide full compensation to accident victims. As a result, Millers has turned out to be an indefensible anomaly in our case law." Blackburn, 115 Wn.2d at 102. The dissent is quite compelling considering that Justice Dore was one of the concurring justices in the *Millers* opinion. This mea culpa, alone, provides good reason for this Court to review the public policy (and the

statutory interpretation) behind the single-vehicle-guest-passenger exclusion. However, the flawed logic behind the *Millers* decision and the *Blackburn* majority make review by this Court even more necessary.

The *Blackburn* dissent provides a nice history of Washington's strong public policy for full compensation for victims of automobile collisions, starting with the old <u>UN</u>insured motorist statute, the precursor of our present <u>UNDER</u>insured motorist statute (RCW 48.22.030). The public policy behind the old statute was stated in *Touchette v. Northwestern Mut. Ins. Co.*, 80 Wn.2d 327, 494 P.2d 479 (1972):

It was enacted to expand insurance protection for the public in using the public streets, highways and walkways and at the same time cut down the incidence and consequences of risk from the careless and insolvent drivers. The statute is both a public safety and a financial security measure. Recognizing the inevitable drain upon the public treasury through accidents caused by insolvent motor vehicle drivers who will not or cannot provide financial recompense for those whom they have negligently injured. contemplating the correlated financial distress following in the wake of automobile accidents and the financial loss suffered personally by the people of this state, the legislature for many sound reasons and in the exercise of the police power took this action to increase and broaden generally the public's protection against automobile accidents.

Touchette, at 332.

When the legislature expanded the UNinsured motorist statute to include UNDERinsured motorists in 1980, the public policy of the old statute carried over. *Britton v. Safeco Ins. Co. of Am.*, 104 Wn.2d 518, 530-

31, 707 P.2d 125 (1985). "It is important to recognize, however, that the purpose of the UIM statute is not just the same as that of its predecessor; it is even broader . . . By extending first party coverage to victims injured by motorists with *insufficient* liability coverage, the Legislature made the accident victim's recovery of *both* third party coverage and first party coverage an *object* of the statute. Rather than merely setting a floor of coverage, the UIM statute adopted the broader goal of full compensation for victims of automobile accidents" as recognized in *Elovich v. Nationwide Ins. Co.*, 104 Wn.2d 543, 550, 707 P.2d 1319 (1985) and repeated in *Hamilton v. Farmers Ins. Co.*, 107 Wn.2d 721, 727, 733 P.2d 213 (1987). *Blackburn*, 115 Wn.2d at 99-100 (Dore, F., dissenting).

This Court should accept review because *Millers* and the *Blackburn* majority "should be overruled primarily because, unlike *Britton, Elovich* and *Hamilton, [Millers* and *Blackburn* fail] to give the public policy in favor of full compensation the controlling weight to which it is entitled."

Id. at 101.

b. *Millers* and *Blackburn*'s public policy findings are founded on flawed logic.

The *Millers* court (and the *Blackburn* majority) cite to a law review comment listing three differences between UIM coverage and liability coverage which purportedly justify the public policy behind allowing the

single-vehicle-guest-passenger exclusion:

First, . . . the injured party has not paid a premium for coverage to this insurer. Thus, there is no danger the insurer will gain a windfall if it is not forced to pay under both provisions of the policy. Second, unlike uninsured motorist coverage, the honoring of this kind of exclusion in underinsured motorist coverage does not leave the injured party completely without compensation. He has already received some compensation pursuant to the liability coverage of the policy. Third, assuming the injured party has automobile insurance of his own, he should be able to collect additional amounts as a result of that policy's underinsured motorist coverage.

Id. at 91, citing Millers, at 7 (quoting Comment, Washington's Underinsured Motorist Statute: Balancing the Interests of Insurers and Insured, 55 Wash. L. Rev. 819, 827 (1980)).

As the *Blackburn* dissent points out, "it is clear that none of these distinctions can justify the liability coverage exclusion." *Id.* at 102. The first distinction wrongfully focuses on the insurance company rather than the victim. Just because an insurance company does not "gain a windfall" through its behavior, does not justify violating public policy and excluding an insured victim from coverage. The correct analysis focuses on the victim and whether he is fully compensated. In the case at hand, Progressive's exclusion of guest passengers (such as Mr. Thompson) violates the public policy of full compensation to victims of auto collisions, the Court should invalidate the provision regardless of whether the Progressive is unjustly enriched. He should be granted coverage because he wasn't fully compensated. If this has an effect on insurance risk, then insurance

companies will adjust rates accordingly. The purpose of insurance is to spread risk, and insurance companies employ actuaries to do these calculations.

The second distinction flies in the face of the public policy of full compensation to victims.

As noted above, the former uninsured motorist scheme protected only against at-fault motorists who were completely uninsured. Receiving some liability coverage precluded any first party insurance recovery. The UIM statute fundamentally altered that scheme, providing both types of coverage in the interest of ensuring full compensation. *Millers'* suggestion that a victim's receiving "some" liability coverage can justify his not recovering UIM benefits amounts to saying we should return to "the bad old days". On the contrary, the Legislature has mandated UIM coverage precisely because "some" compensation under a liability policy is not enough. This court unambiguously rejected the notion of offsetting liability and UIM benefits in *Elovich*.

Id. at 103 (emphasis added).

The third point in the law review comment is the most pernicious. It assumes that innocent victims have UIM coverage of their own. Not only does this fail to justify the denial of benefits, but more importantly, it discriminates against the most vulnerable citizens of our state – the blind, the disabled, the children, the elderly, and any other citizen who is not capable of driving a motor vehicle. These citizens do not have the opportunity to purchase UIM coverage and are reliant on the driver's policy whenever they travel on our roadways. Some people can get their

own UIM coverage and some can't. This distinction, which *Millers* and the *Blackburn* majority use as a justification to exclude guest passengers from UIM coverage, actually justifies the opposite - inclusion. While Mr. Thompson may have had the option to purchase his own UIM coverage, this Court should accept review of the guest passenger exclusion for the millions of Washingtonians who don't have that option.

2. This Court Should Review the Single-Vehicle-Guest-Passenger Exclusion Because it is Based on the 2-Car Rule, which Misinterprets the Language of The UIM Statute

The single-vehicle-guest-passenger exclusion was erroneously created in two steps. First, the *Millers* court misinterpreted The UIM Statute as requiring two distinct vehicles ("the 2-car rule"). Under this reasoning, insurance companies could draft policies that exclude UIM coverage to *all* passengers in single-vehicle collisions. Second, *Tissell v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co.*, 115 Wn.2d 107, 111-114, 795 P.2d 126 (1990) determined that the 2-car rule's exclusion of family members was invalid as against public policy. This created a "class" of insureds that were non-excludable – class 1 insureds (the named insured and family members), and a "class" of insureds who were excludable – class 2 insureds (other insureds [i.e. guest passengers]).

a. Millers misinterpreted the language of The UIM Statute and erroneously created the 2-car rule.

The UIM Statute says:

No new policy or renewal of an existing policy insuring against loss resulting from liability imposed by law for bodily injury, death, or property damage, suffered by any person arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of **motor vehicle** shall be issued with respect to any **motor vehicle** ... in this state unless coverage is provided therein or supplemental thereto for the protection of persons insured thereunder who are legally entitled to recover damages from owners or operators of **underinsured motor vehicles**[.]

RCW 48.22.030(2) (emphasis added).

The *Millers* court held that, because The UIM Statute refers to "motor vehicle" and "underinsured motor vehicles", it contemplates two separate vehicles – a vehicle with liability coverage and a vehicle with UIM coverage. *Millers* at 6. This created the 2-car rule, which denied UIM benefits to passengers if they recovered against the liability portion of the same policy. On its own, the 2-car rule would allow insurance companies to exclude *any and all* passengers in single-vehicle collisions.

Millers' 2-car rule is rooted in a misreading of the plain language of The UIM Statute. While it is true that a vehicle with liability coverage can be different from a vehicle with UIM coverage, the language does not require two distinct vehicles. In order for the 2-car rule to exist, The UIM Statute would have to require 2 cars; however; "a single vehicle can be both insured for liability purposes and underinsured for UIM purposes,

there is no reason to conclude from the words of the statute alone that the Legislature contemplated two distinct policies on two distinct cars." *Blackburn* at 97 (Dore, F., dissenting).

Further, "Millers was decided soon after the passage of the UIM statute, before this court had developed a solid body of precedent to guide its interpretation." Blackburn at 102 (Dore, F., dissenting). The Millers court relied on Breaux v. Government Employees Ins. Co., 369 So.2d 1335 (La. 1979) for its interpretation of the Louisana UIM statute which appeared to be similar to our own. While the Louisana UIM statute's wording was almost identical to ours, the last line of the Lousiana statute read. "...persons insured thereunder who are legally entitled to recover damages from owners or operators of uninsured or underinsured motor vehicles[.]" La. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 22:1406(D)(1)(a)(i) (West Supp. 1990) (emphasis added). Our statute only refers to underinsured motor vehicles. RCW 48.22.005(2). This distinction is important because a single vehicle cannot be both insured for liability purposes and uninsured at the same time. Thus, the Louisiana court correctly ruled that its statute required two distinct vehicles; however, our statute does not. Consequently, *Millers* and Blackburn erroneously relied on Breaux and misinterpreted Washington's UIM Statute. This Court should allow review to evaluate the plain language of The UIM Statute and eliminate the 2-car rule.

b. Tissell whittled away at the 2-Car Rule

Under the *Millers*' 2-car rule, insurance companies could draft policies that exclude UIM coverage to *all* passengers in single-vehicle collisions. However, *Tissell* (which was decided on the same day as *Blackburn*), held that, despite the 2-car rule, the exclusion of family members in single-vehicle collisions was invalid as against public policy. *Tissell* at 111-114. As *Blackburn* put it, named insureds and family are "class 1" and can't be excluded in single vehicle collisions; guest passengers are "class 2" and can be excluded, under the 2-car rule, in single-vehicle collisions where the liability policy applies. *Blackburn* at 89-91. While *Tissell* whittled away at the 2-car rule, guest passengers (such as Mr. Thompson) are still victims. This Court should review *Millers* misreading of The UIM Statute and eliminate the 2-car rule, which is the foundation for the single-vehicle-guest-passenger exclusion.

3. The Definition Statute Abrogated the 2-Car Rule and Created a Single Class of Non-Excludable "Insureds"

a. The Definition Statute applies to The UIM Statute

The legislature enacted The Definition Statute in 1993, 3 years after *Blackburn* was decided. 1993 Wash. Laws ch. 242. The very first line of RCW 48.22.005 ("The Definition Statute") states, "[u]nless the context clearly requires otherwise, the definitions in this section apply throughout

the chapter." The UIM Statute is RCW 48.22.030, part of the same chapter as The Definition Statute. Thus, The Definition Statute explicitly applies to The UIM Statute.

b. The Definition Statute changed the meaning of "Underinsured motor vehicle" making it clear that it can be the same vehicle as the vehicle with liability coverage, thus, abrogating the 2-car requirement

The Definition Statute states:

- (5) "Insured" means:
- (a) The named insured or a person who is a resident of the named insured's household ...; or
- (b) A person who sustains bodily injury caused by accident while:
- (i) Occupying or using the insured automobile with the permission of the named insured...

RCW 48.22.005(5) (emphasis added).

Ms. Haney's insurance policy mirrors the language of The Definition Statute, defining "insured person" to include "any person occupying, but not operating, a covered auto." CP 40. Progressive does not dispute that Mr. Thompson qualified as an "Insured" for purposes of UIM coverage.

As the *Blackburn* majority points out, "insured" and "covered person" are synonymous. "In insurance contracts, UIM endorsements prescribe who is entitled to seek indemnification by specifically defining the term 'insured' or 'covered person." *Blackburn* at 88. A guest passenger is defined as an "Insured" (or "covered person") under The Definition Statute. Substituting the term "guest passenger" in for "covered

person" into the language of The Definition Statute, it defines "Underinsured motor vehicle" as follows:

A motor vehicle...with respect to which the sum of the limits of liability under all...insurance policies applicable to a [guest passenger] ...is less than the applicable damages which the [guest passenger] is legally entitled to recover.

RCW 48.22.030(1).

While RCW 48.22.030(2) does discuss the term "motor vehicle" and the term "underinsured motor vehicles," this proper reading of the statutory definition of "Underinsured motor vehicle" makes is quite clear that such a vehicle *can* be the same vehicle as the vehicle that is insured for purposes of liability. If the two vehicles *can* be the same, there is no 2-car requirement; and without the 2-car requirement, no passengers may be excluded from UIM coverage. As guest passengers are statutorily defined as "Insured", insurance companies should not be able to chip away at statutory coverage with back-door exclusionary clauses. *Touchette*, 80 Wn.2d at 335.

Millers misinterpreted The UIM Statute as requiring two distinct vehicles. Even if Millers' interpretation had been correct, the enactment of The Definition Statute, as applied to The UIM Statute, changed the meaning of "Underinsured motor vehicle" abrogating any 2-car requirement. In light of this legislative change, this Court should accept

review of this case to quash the 2-car requirement.

c. The Definition Statute codified public policy creating one class of non-excludable "Insureds"

The Court of Appeals erroneously held that The Definition Statute (RCW 48.22.005(5)) "differentiates" between a "named insured" and an "other insured" creating different classes of insured consistent with Blackburn and Millers. Decision at 9. The Definition Statute, enacted in 1993 (after the Millers and Blackburn opinions), provides no such differentiation. RCW 48.22.005(5). Instead, the statute states that named insureds or guest passengers are defined as "Insured". Id. The plain language of The Definition Statute defines the multiple pathways for becoming "Insured", without creating separate classes. Id.

The *Blackburn* majority was specifically looking for legislative guidance to shape its holding with regard to public policy. It stated, "[t]he legislative intent and the extent of the coverage mandated by the UIM statute have been difficult to determine." *Blackburn* at 87. In the absence of The Definition Statute's guidance, the *Blackburn* court relied on the *Millers*' 2-car rule and faulty analysis of public policy. *Id.* at 89-94. With the enactment of The Definition Statute, the legislature provided the guidance that the *Blackburn* court was seeking – guest passengers are "Insured". RCW 48.22.005(5)(b)(i). These parameters are not opaque nor

open to erosion by exclusionary clauses. *Kenworthy v. Pennsylvania General Ins. Co.*, 113 Wn.2d 309, 313, 779 P.2d 257 (1989). Moreover, the breadth of this legislatively-mandated coverage aligns with the public policy behind UIM insurance: full compensation for victims of automobile collisions.

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