FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/10/2019 3:42 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 97312-1

JOSEPH M. THOMPSON, an individual, Petitioner,

VS.

 $\begin{array}{c} \text{PROGRESSIVE DIRECT INSURANCE COMPANY,} \\ \text{Respondent.} \end{array}$

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Timothy R. Gosselin, WSBA #13730 Attorney for Respondent GOSSELIN LAW OFFICE, PLLC 1901 Jefferson Ave., Suite 304 Tacoma, WA 98402 Office: 253-627-0684 tim@gosselinlawoffice.com

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

ARGUMENT

Rule of Appellate Procedure 13.4(b) provides that a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

This case does not satisfy subsections (1) and (2) because, as Thompson acknowledges, the Court of Appeals' decision follows the decisions of this Court and the courts of appeals. Instead, Thompson pins review on subsection 4. His primary contention is that, after nearly four decades, this Court should adopt the reasoning of the dissent in *Blackburn*. Petition at 6-7 ("This mea culpa, alone, provides good reason for this Court to

review the public policy (and the statutory interpretation) behind the single- vehicle-guest-passenger exclusion.").

""[O]verruling prior precedent should not be taken lightly."" Hardee v. Dept. of Social & Health Servs., 172 Wn.2d 1, 15, 256 P.3d 339 (2011)(quoting Lunsford v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc., 166 Wn.2d 264, 278, 208 P.3d 1092 (2009)). To abandon established precedent, there must be "a clear showing that an established rule is incorrect and harmful." Fergen v. Sestero, 182 Wn.2d 794, 809, 346 P.3d 708 (2015) (quoting State v. Devin, 158 Wn.2d 157, 168, 142 P.3d 599 (2006)(quoting Riehl v. Foodmaker, Inc., 152 Wn.2d 138, 147, 94 P.3d 930 (2004)). "The Legislature is presumed to be aware of judicial interpretation of its enactments,' and where statutory language remains unchanged after a court decision the court will not overrule clear precedent interpreting the same statutory language." Broom v. Morgan Stanley DW Inc., 169 Wn.2d 231, 238, 236 P.3d 182, (2010) (quoting Riehl v. Foodmaker, Inc., 152 Wn.2d 138, 147, 94 P.3d 930 (2004) (quoting Friends of Snoqualmie Valley v. King County Boundary Review Bd., 118 Wn.2d 488, 496-97, 825 P.2d 300 (1992))).

Millers, *Blackburn*, and the limitation on those decisions expressed in *Tissell*, have been the law of the land for at least three decades. As the policy involved in this case shows, insurers issuing insurance in this state have written their policies to comport with the holdings in those cases.

Since the Court issued them, the legislature has not changed the UIM statute to address the decisions, or shown any intent to overrule their holdings. Many other court decisions have relied upon their analysis.

See, e.g., *Holz v. North Pacific Ins. Co.*, 53 Wn. App. 62, 765 P.2d 1306 (1988); *Kyrkos v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 121 Wn.2d 669, 852 P.2d 1078 (1993); *Greengo v. Public Employees Mut. Ins. Co.*, 135 Wn.2d 799, 959 P.2d 657 (1998); *Vasquez v. American Fire & Cas. Co.*, 174 Wn. App. 132, 298 P.3d 94 (2013). Against this backdrop, Thompson offers nearly nothing but a disagreement with the holdings in those cases in support of his contention. As such, he fails to make a clear showing that *Blackburn* and *Millers* are "incorrect and harmful."

Initially it bears noting that this Court has already done what petitioner requests: Review the public policy of the UIM statute in light of the dissent in *Blackburn*. It did that in *Blackburn* itself, within the majority decision. Seven justices considered and rejected the dissent's analysis.

More important, the dissent's reasoning was not sound then and is not now. The dissent rested on the central premise that the controlling policy behind the UIM statute is "full compensation for injured persons." The dissent then measured all opposing arguments against that premise. Thompson does the same. Petition at 8. But, the Supreme Court has rejected the premise as incorrect. See *Greengo v. Public Employees Mut*.

Ins. Co., 135 Wn.2d at 809-10. And, the dissent's myopic vision of the policy behind the statute led the two justices to fail to consider the full intent of the legislature. Accord, Tissell, 115 Wn.2d at 120, 795 P.2d 126 (Callow, C.J., concurring with six other justices)("[T]he [lead opinion's] fixation on the UIM statute's public policy of 'full compensation' is misplaced...."). In contrast, the *Blackburn* majority correctly recognized that restrictions and limitations within the UIM statute showed that compensation is not the only policy behind the UIM statute. After considering the statute as a whole, including its purpose of providing a low-cost floating layer of coverage, and the fact that persons in Thompson's position can purchase that layer on their own, the majority reasoned that "no public policy requires an insurer to provide an insured with a third source of recovery." The Court also agreed with the *Millers* court's analysis that an insured who wants to protect passengers from the insured's own negligence may and should do so by increasing the limits of liability insurance, not shifting the risk to the lower cost UIM insurance. 115 Wn.2d at 91-92.

Thompson argues that *Millers* and *Blackburn* are unsound because they leave some possible claimants – a class he characterizes as "our most vulnerable citizens" – potentially without the ability to obtain UIM coverage. In essence he argues for an expansion of the *Tissell* exception.

The argument is for another case and another day. Thompson is

not among the "vulnerable" claimants, and has no standing to argue for them. Thompson falls squarely among those persons addressed in *Blackburn*: Unrelated passengers who have the ability to insure themselves. As a result, even if the Court applied *Tissell* to the class of possible claimants Thompson describes, the decision would not apply to him. He is not, therefore, a proper litigant to make the argument.

Moreover, Thompson has not provided the Court with evidence that the class of possible claimants – persons who cannot buy automobile insurance – even exists, or that the *Millers/Blackburn* analysis harms persons within that class. He has not provided testimony or evidence that insurance is not available to such possible claimants, or at what cost, or even if a claim has been made by any such claimant. That is because Thompson raises the argument for the first time in his petition for review. Because the Court has no record on which to assess the merits of his argument, the issue of whether the *Tissell* exception should be expanded to others should be left for another case.

The only change to which Thompson points as justifying reconsideration of *Millers* and *Blackburn* is the legislature's 1993 enactment of a law creating personal injury protection coverage, which included a definition of "insured." But, his contention that this enactment implicitly overruled *Millers* and *Blackburn*, or even changed the UIM landscape, is unfounded.

Certainly, the legislature may abrogate a court's interpretation of a statute by amending the statute. See, e.g., *Ohio Security Ins. Co. v. Axis Ins. Co.*, 190 Wn.2d 348, 355, 413 P.3d 1028 (2018). There is, however, no indication the legislature did or intended to do that directly or indirectly through the 1993 act. That is shown by both the wording of the act and its history.

The part of the 1993 act Thompson relies upon is the definition of "insured." However, the UIM statute does not use the word "insured" as a noun as it is defined in the 1993 act, so the definition does impact the UIM statute. See RCW 48.22.030

That is consistent with the history of the act. The 1993 act was entitled "Motor Vehicle Insurance – Personal Injury Protection Benefits." 1993 Wash. Laws ch. 242. Consistent with its title, the act states its purpose: "An act relating to mandatory offering of personal injury protection insurance; adding new sections to chapter 48.22 RCW; creating a new section; and providing an effective date." *Id.* Legislative history shows that the legislature's sole focus was on providing for mandatory offering of personal injury protection insurance, not changing the fundamental operation of UIM insurance. See, e.g., H.B. Rep. on H.B. 1233, 53rd Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. Feb. 4, 1993); S.B. Rep. on E.S.H.B. 1233, 53rd Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. Apr. 1, 1993); H.B. 1233, 53rd Leg., Reg. Sess., Legislative Digest (Wash. 1993); E.S.H.B. 1233, 53rd Leg.,

Reg. Sess., Legislative Digest (Wash. 1993). Accordingly, in 2003, when the legislature amended the act, including the definitions section, the amendments pertained exclusively to personal injury protection coverage as well. 2003 Wash. Laws ch. 115; see House Comm. on Financial Institutions and Insurance, Bill Analysis on H.B. 1084, 58th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2003); House Comm. on Financial Institutions and Insurance, Senate Comm. on Financial Services, Insurance and Housing, Final Bill Report, H.B. 1084, 58th Leg., Reg. Session (Wash. 2003). Neither the act itself, nor legislative history related to the act, mention or reference the UIM statute, UIM insurance, the definition of underinsured motor vehicle, *Blackburn*, *Millers* or any court decision, or even the holdings stated in *Blackburn* and *Millers*. Nothing in the 1993 act or its history suggests the legislature intended to change how courts apply the UIM statute.

Likewise, nothing in the 1993 legislation even impliedly changed the underlying basis for the *Blackburn* court's decision. The *Blackburn* court based its decision on the fact that the UIM statute contemplated two distinct motor vehicles: the motor vehicle with respect to which uninsured motorist coverage is issued and the "uninsured or underinsured" motor vehicle. In addition, the court noted, the statute distinguishes between the person insured under the liability coverage and the owner or operator of the uninsured or underinsured motor vehicle. 115 Wn.2d at 90, quoting

Millers Cas. Ins. Co. v. Briggs, 100 Wn.2d 1, 6, 665 P.2d 891 (1983). The 1993 legislation did not change any of those characteristics of the UIM statute.

In the end, however, Thompson's reasons for contending the statute either overruled *Millers/Blackburn* or impact this case are unsupportable. Thompson contends the act's definition of "insured" must be read into UIM policies, and when that is done, the definition nullifies or overrules *Blackburn*. His theory is that "the definition statute requires all policies issued in Washington to provide underinsured motorist coverage to individuals occupying an insured automobile with the permission of the named insured." (CP 12)

The premise is obviously incorrect. First, neither the UIM statute nor the 1993 act require insurers to include UIM coverage in policies. The UIM statute only requires insurers to make UIM coverage available to policyholders. RCW 48.22.030; *Clements v. Travelers Indem. Co.*, 121 Wn.2d 243, 250, 850 P.2d 1298 (1993).

More importantly, the definition of insured is not material to either this case or *Millers* and *Blackburn*. As noted above, the UIM statute does not use the word "insured" as a noun, so the definition does not impact the UIM statute. Moreover, there is no dispute that, even if the statutory definition applied, Progressive's policy definition of insured was consistent with it, or that Thompson fell within that definition. Likewise,

in *Millers* and *Blackburn*, there was no dispute that the claimant was an insured under the policy. At issue here, and in those cases, was the definition of underinsured motor vehicle, not the definition of insured. The definition of underinsured motor vehicle is provided by the UIM statute, not the personal injury protection insurance statute. RCW 48.22.030(1). Because the issue involved in this case does not turn on the definition of insured, Thompson's reliance on the 1993 act creates a false issue that does not exist.

CONCLUSION

The holdings in *Blackburn* and *Millers* do not present issues of substantial public import warranting review. The decisions are soundly reasoned. They have been the law of the land for decades. They have guided insurers in the drafting of insurance policies, and courts in interpreting and applying those policies, over that time. Thompson has shown no harm from the decisions. The legislature has not overruled the holdings in those cases. And, the 1993 act creating personal injury protection insurance did not do so by implication. Because Thompson

//

//

//

//

//

fails to present good reason for the court to abandon this decades old law, respondent Progressive asks the court to deny his Petition for Review.